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Sketch of his depot work before coming to Bovill in 1925.

Snow and Bovill winters. The Potlatch horse barn; selling
off horses when horse logging ended. The old-time
lumberjacks. Most wintered in Spokane, but returned

in the spring; blowing money in town.

The railroad "extra gangs' were a different class than
the lumberjack. Joe saved a drunk from an extra gang
from getting run over.

As justice of the peace, Joe let Ted Collins jump a
train. Later a body in Moscow was identified as Ted;
but on examination Joe disagreed with the others.

Later Ted walked into the depot, and was warmly received.

When the Depression hit in 1931, Potlatch Lumber Company
"pulled the pin" and most people lost their jobs in the
Bovill area. Joe was in charge of the relief program.
The distribution of food and jobs.

(continued) WPA road work from Bovill to Elk River.

The state took over the road to Elk River from the Highway
District. Difficulty raising gardens around Bovill.
Business troubles for Groh store ended with the second
war. CCC work kept the community going.

Pat Malone's work in Bovill. He spent all his spending
money on treats for kids. He didn't drink. Pat's
favorite story, about catching some desperadoes coming
from Clarkia. Pat went after the safe stolen from the
depot, in a situation that could have been dangerous.

Pat was afraid he would be buried in pauper's field, and
knew that he was going to die when the doctors didn't.
Joe raised money in Bovill for a headstone, and his
children still visit Pat's grave each Memorial Day. Pat
had worked in Duluth. Pat wanted Joe to give Nick the
Greek a jail sentence for possession of two pints, but
Joe didn't because it would have been his third
conviction.
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(continued) Pat was angry at Joe for giving Nick a
fine instead of jail. Pat delighted in catching
bootleggers, but wasn't much of a detective.

Drinking was not seen in Bovill during Prohibition.
Palouse had quite a reputation for saloons from the
early days.

Socials were very popular and enjoyable in Bovill

during the Depression. Sandwiches were made from wild
meat. Nogle, the supervisor, got low pay and had little
work to do, and few were on the payroll at all.

Charlie Albright died while playing a basketball game
in 1927. The men hauled him through deep snow to the
hospital, although Dr. Brown didn't tell them he was
dead. Most of the town took an excursion train to
Palouse for the funeral; Elmer Helm, the engineer,
scared the people by roaring into the station.

Baseball teams in the area aroused much interest, except
in Moscow. Local sports have declined.

When Joe's wife had her baby unexpectedly early, Axel
Anderson got the doctor down to Bovill from Elk River,
in the dead of winter.

When Bovill lost its doctor during the Depression while
Potlatch kept their veterinarian, folks said "horses are
more important than people". The vet was often their
doctor.

Axel Anderson, the Big Swede, got hurt badly in a
railroad accident. Joe Buck gave Axel a union retort;
Joe once had to work a 25 hour day.

Joe's responsibilities as depot agent at Bovill. Getting
along well with management made his job pleasant. To

get a corpse accepted by the baggageman for shipment by
train, Joe had to sign the supervisor's name.

The Milwaukee and the WI&M ("Will I Make it") had the same
policies, but Joe kept two sets of books. By buying the
WI&M, the Milwaukee gets to ship most of Potlatch's timber.

Trainloads of sheep which had grazed on Forest Service
land from June to Labor Day were shipped from Bovill to
Chicago. Joe was told there were less sheep because there
were fewer Basque herders.



Joseph Holland

minute

page

Side D (continued)

25

39

91 -1 (3)

Leo Guilfoy tricked Joe's cousin when he was checking
poles. Leo got egg on Buck's face for stealing his
eggs. People said new stories around Bovill were
made up by Leo. Leo never seemed to worry, despite
having to raise his children in addition to working.

with Sam Schrager
July 25, 1974
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JOSEPH HOLLAND

SAM SCHRAGER: A little bit of background on before you came to Bovill. The

JOSEPH

SAM:

first thing I noticed on that background sheet is that you grew up in
South Dakota an& Saskatchewan. Were your parents homesteading?

HOLLAND: Yes, they were farmers in South Dakota, and then they home-
steaded in Saskatchewan. Yeah, I was a farm boy until I come to Spokane.
That was the end of farming.

Did your whole family leave Saskatchewan?

Yes, yes. I left just a few months before them, and went back to South
Dakota for, well, from about July to December. I worked there and then
I joinéd them. in Spokane. They came to Spokane, 1'd say about in Oct-
ober of that year. Yeah, they sold out. And then, I said on the back-
ground sheet, went up there at the telegraéh school- Spokane Telegraph
Institute it was called-- finished that, and then started working for
the railroad, Great Northern. vI worked righ; in Spokane for a while,
right down there on Havermale Island, where the fair now is, in the build-
ing where the tower is left. Oh, I worked quite a few places on the
Great Northern-- Priest River, Newport and west over to Harrington-- Oh,
I never got as far as Wenatchee-- Edwall, and Lyons. Well, then the

~

next spring there wasn't much work for extra board, and a new man, you
¥

i~ £

see, you're on the extra board. So this Inland Empire, which rumns be- i

tween Spokane, Moscow and Colfax, they needed somebody so I went to work
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for them. I said in there, I was cashier and operator different places,
and relief agent, and wound up in Moscow. I was cashier and operator
there. Stayedlfor about two years.. And then this job at Bovill came
up as joint égent, and it was a better paying job, so I just quit and
took it. The railroad atAMoscow was very good about it, too. When I
was ieaving they sgid, "Well, we moved you in here''--they do that, you
know, your furniture and anything you have-- "moved you in here and
we'll move you out." So I had free transportation of my household
goods, myself and my family.

Well, that's'when 1 started in at Bovill. Oh, things were humming
there then. The roads into Bovill, in the wintertime, there just wasn't
anything. The snow covered and they never tried to keep 'em open. Peo-
ple would put their cars up on blocks, oh, sometimes as‘early as October,
Novembet, when winter hadn't set in hardly, and they were there until
the next May or more. I heard some say tﬁat that was a pretty good thing,
they got a chance to catch up on their grocery bill, they wasn't spend-—
ing so much for gasoline. Left the)depot every time the trains came 565 13
which was shortly after noon, one-something, the Milwaukee come up there,

and the WI&M passenger train met. And. oh; mail and everything that
came into the town came on the train. So quite often‘there was a lot of
people gathered around the depot, that just seemed to be a daily event.
Gather around there to see the trains come in and go. Two or three'aray
teams backed up against the platform to take the mail, express, and what-
noﬁ,‘deliver it over the town.

The winters there,sometimes the snow used to get, oh, real deep. They
still have snow there, but it's nothing like it was in those days. It
seems to mé; that about, oh, by the fifteenth of December that fence that

was out in front of the depot-— it was a good five and a half feet high——

but that would be covered. The posts would disappear, and you wouldn't

o~
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- SAM:

see them again until March, maybe, when the snow started down. And

the railroads, ‘it was,quite a job there plowing out the tracks, the
side tracks;and we had all kinds of equipment to do it. Sometimes
three or four engines stalled, snowed in, take one to pull another out.
They'd get going, oh, they'd get through it. And it was the same every
wiﬁter there for quite a while, and then finally the winters wasn't
quite so severe, iess sSnow.

'Course, sometimes the logging company would be down for a few
months in the winter, in those days. But now iﬁ's kind of reversed: they
log now in the winter, but spring come, then they have their iayoff for
maybe a couple of months. Things are wet in the woods. Those days it
was all horse logging. Potlatch Lumber Company, which it was called
at the time, they had oh. two or three huge barns across the meadow
from the depot where they would keep their horses when they were not
working. And they never had a horse that wouldn't weigh at least a tom,
and a lot of them weighing twenty-one, twenty-two hundred pounds. Big
horses. But I guess it takes big horses to do heavy work in the woods.
Yeah, then all at once there was no more horses, they started using
cats. They sold those horses as they could. Some of the farmers from
around the country would come in and buy 'em. I think they said they
had two hundred sixty head there at one time, just wintering. That's"
a lot of horses. Took a fair ;ized crew of men to just take care of
‘em. But then they'd do anything to get rid of them. They'd sell 'em
for whatever people wanted to give, and then some even they shipped,
loaded them in stock cars and shipped 'em to Portland, I think it was,
where they would be slaughtered, and I dqn't know what they would be
used for. They used to say they were going to the glue factory.

Did many of the lumberjacks winter over?

S T
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You worked long hours, but when you go back—well, we're going back
about forty-nige years now, seeing I came to Bovill in 1925-- every-
body worked long@e€ hours. Even when I left the depot at Moscow, I
was working ten hours a day. ~When I went to Bovill, however, it was
eight hours, and the eight hour day in the woods was coming in. Oh,
they worked long hours. A lot of them,'you see, sawyers, and more
than sawyers, it was gyppo—— SO much a foot, so much a thousand. So
they didn't mind the long hours, 'cause the more they worked, the more
they made. There would always be a considerable percentage of the
group that was on hourly pay, pretty small pay. too. then, about; oh:
thirty-two and a half cents an hour was probably a pretty good pay
then. And a lot of the extra gangs on the railroad was only twenty-
five cents an hour. No, it didn't take any super person physically.
of cou?se, doing that kind of work, you know, you get used to it and
put out a lot of work, eat heavy.

Thosé 0ld lumberjacks, for the most of them, they could stay in
the woods just about so long and then they had to get out of there.
They'd get what thef call that, some kind of a fever, (Chuckles) not
that they were sick, but they had to get out and go tq town, in some-
place where they could call "Timber". Of course, in those days when I
went there it waé Prohibition, so there wasn't any place around there
that they could do that. I guess maybe that's what attracted some of
them to Spokane in the winter. (Chuckles) Oh, yeah, the lumberjack
woulé have a pretty good stake and go to town and go broke. And if
he was known he could borrow quite a little bit, And then after he
spent that, well then he was ready to go back to work. And the same
thing ovef and over and over. They were regarded as pretty honorable

men. There didn't seem to be any bad ones at all. They were good,

help everybody they could. Well, I never worked a day in the woods.
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I hgard lots of things about 'em, you know. Some of them would darn
their socks when they started to wear out at the heel, they'd roll
it a little ways, and when that wore, roll it again, roll it, and keep
rolling it until finally it Qould cuf right in two. Well, then they'd
have to get a new pair of-socks. Now they would do that, but then
still when they'd go to town, money was nothing. Free, timber, (Chu-
gglgg)want'to treat everybody. And there were really no fights started
amongst the lumberjacks, they didn't do that.

Those extra gangs they used to have on the railroad though, that
was a little different. About every year there'd be an extra gang
come up, and they'd have their own cars on the railroad, bunk cars,
probably about a hundred men in the camp. And they would renew ties,
that was their main work. But they picked those up from everywhere,
you knbw, get 'em fresh out of jail or whatnot, to just go out there
for twenty-five cents an hour. But they did get their board, bed and
a place to sleep. Oh, they were coming and going all the time. But
some of those were pretty rough characters. (Chuckles) There was one
of’them, I looked out the window of the depot one time, and I seen
him laying with his head across the rail up near the water tank, and
there was a train coming pretty soon. So I hiked up there and it wasn't
too far. He was dead drunk, and I pulled him off the rails, pulled him
off by the feet, and he woke up a little bit, and I told him, I says,
"Fella you got your neck right over that rail", I says, "there's a
train coming along here right pretty quick that'll just cut your head
off!" "Oh," he said, "that'd be all right." And I think ke meant it!
(Chuckles) Well, I dragged him around back of the water tank, and then
it seemed iike he kinda went back to sleep ﬁpd I went to the depot.

Kept my eyes peeled, and it was only five minutes or so till the train

came. And they couldn't have stopped.
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Yeah, that was a different class. The& were a different class of
people altogether than the ones in the woods. They were honorable men,
the lumberjacks. But when the old crop retired, died off, there just
isn't any more of them. And old Pat Malone,‘he probably knew every
one of them. Superintendent there)Nogle, C. G. Nogle, he knew a lot
of them personally, and liked 'em. He knew they'd break loose once in
a while and go on an awful drunk, but anyway you'd get 'em back in HEe
woods, they were good men. So he went along with them.

There was one oldtimer there, Ted Collins. He was a lumberjack.
He decided to leave Bovill, and they'd had him in jail there for a -
while, more or less to sober him up. Well I was justice of the peace,
. and I used to hold court right in the depot, and that time I did. And
it was Ted, just for being drunk. And he was looking out the window
and there was a train going by with log flats. And he said, "If I was
free," he said, "I'd go right out there and jump on one of those log
flats and get out of here." I said, "Is that what you want to do, Ted?"
"Yes." I said, "Go right ahead." He éaid, "You mean I'm free to do
that?" I said, "Go right ahead, if that's what you want to do." And
he did. You couldn't do a thing, he didn't have a dinle, you know, no
need to fine him, no need to put him back in jail. All he done was
being dgunk, he didn't harm anybody here. And he was gone for quite-a
while, I don't know where he Qent to. But oh, it must have been a year
afterwards, in Moscow, they found a man dead in a box car. We had a
few people that had lived in Bovill, that then was in Moscow, and one
of them identified that man as Ted Collins. They said, Urhat's Ted."
Well, then when that was the case, they asked some of us at Bovill if
we would come down and see what we thouéht.’fWell, I was surprised,

there were quite a few knew him much better and longer than I did,

i
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they said, "yeah, that's Ted Collins.". But I myself coﬁldn't see it.
Well first of all, when I went over there, Howard Short was gone, but
his wife was there. It was at night, but she said, "We got the body
down in thebbasement, and we can go down and see him. And I looked
at him, and I'd look from one angle and it was just a dead ringer for
him; and you go around the other side and it wasn't. And I asked her
if she had a tape measure there, she said, "Yeah." So we measured
him, and he wasn't near as tall as I had figured this Ted Collins to
be. So they had, you say. a 1ittle something there, you know, if you
thought it was Ted Collins, or if you knew who it was. Well, I wrote
down, "I don't know who it is, but I'm satisfied it's not Ted Collins."
Well, another year or so went by, and by gosh here old Ted Collins
rolls off of a flat car, walked in the depot. (Chuckles) I wasn't
too surprised because I was satisfied in my own mind that that wasn't
Ted Collins tﬁat was buried in Moscow. Aﬁd I told him, "Well," I says,
Ted, you've been dead now for, oh, let's see(I don't know whether it
was one Or two years), one Or two years." "Oh," he said, "where did
they bury me?" "Moscow! 'Well, well, well," he said, "I ought to be
good for a meal then." I said, "You bet you will be!i And, I said,
"You just go over to Mrs. Watts," she was running the restaurant, and
I said, "you'll get a meal." And she was so glad to see him that she
just kept him there, working around, bull cooking. He stayed there‘éor
a long, long time,
Sounds like dying was one of the best things that ever happened to him.
Yeah, yeah, but, you know, one more detail about examining him, his
clothes-- he had different clothes, you know, than a lumberjack would
have, like light shoes, and little rolled. black. cotton socks. Well,

lumberjacks, you know, they got generally wool socks and the wool pants

ans whatnot. So his clothing didn't check out to me either. And then
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when I measured him for height, and I asked about that, too: "Now that
this man is dead, how tall would he be if he was living?" They sai&,
"Taller, layiﬁg on that slab. But the way we're measuring him, he'd
be taller than if he was walking around." So that was the last con-
vincing point to me. Oh; yeah. Well there was a lot of those old
fellas that way.

Like Ted?

Oh, yeah. Yeah. Ted was probably one of the most likable oneS,though.
He was happy-go-lucky. He didn't bother anybody. But he never wanted
to sober up. He'd get drunk, and he wanted to stay that way. But
then they always said when he got in the woods he was as good a man

as they had, and drinking didn't bother him at all, until he'd come to
town again. I think he was a teamster, I'm quite sure he was. They
used to havevlots of teamsters, you know. Ob, yeah, there's lots of
other characters, you know, but you haven't thought of them for a while,
then it skips your mind. But the woods was full of them. 0f course,
that Depression come along then. The outfit shut down, oh. I don't
kgow exactly, but I suppose '31,Aand it didn't turn a wheel for prob-
ably a year and a half or more. It was probably about '31 when they
pulled the pin. Oh, a lot of people moved away then. Things was pret-—
ty hard. There was no unemployment compensation, you know, no social

.t

security, that's all ahead of that. They didn't have a dime, and peo-

_ple, generally speaking, didn't save ahead. They would always, most

of them, be good at the grocery store for sixty, ninety days or more
credit. But then that was running out, and this was different, you
know, when the company pulled the pin, it was early in the fall, early.

It wasn't for winter coming on, so it was a different deal.

>

That was pretty tough going there; however, people seemed to en-
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SAM:

joy living, though. Nobody had a dime. ‘I was fortunate in having

the job that I did have. Before that I had "= - a cashier and a ware-
house man, but the business was down so bad that they laid both of
those of, and I was running the job alone. But, as I say, I was very
for;unate to have been oﬁ the payroll all the time. And there were

a few that were—— the school teachers, and a few people that were tak-
ing care of the horses, and you about had it. Oh, yeah, there was a
few on the railroad-- the section foreman, a couple of men. But it
was looking pretty black then. I know how it was, because I guess it
was because I had a job that they made me relief director. Only had

a limited amount of money, very little, to keep the town going. And
you'd just about have to go into everybody's house to talk to them and
see what you could do; to see, you know, maybe they had some canned
fruit 6r something that another family didn't have. Well, you wouldn't
ask them to share, but then you knew better how to distribute the
money, trying to keep everybody alive. So it was about the most re-
warding work I believe I ever had, for self-satisfaction, I really
think it was. Yeah.‘

How did it work out? How did you manage to distribute. things?

Well, we formed a committee, of course, and listed everybody in town.
And then we'd have so much money, and there was a little work, you see,
WPA. But they were, oh I don't know, slow in getting that going; but
when that got going then, well, like Bovill 6 would be allocated so
much money a month for this work. And then they'd have to say people
with the larger family-- like some of them would have as many as six
kids-- well a man like that, he'd have to work more days. Maybe he'd
work four déys a week out of the six. And then somebody- that maybe

it was just a man and wife, well two days at the most. There wasn't

too many single men, they got out of there. The ones that didn't kind
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had to work for themselves. But they mostly got out of there, I don't
(Spokane)
know where they went to, up here%\I guess. But that's the way you had

to kind of divide it, you know, to try to keep everybody alive.

(E’\d 9‘ S:d& A)

We couldn't set it ugﬁgnything, it'd have to be approved. But what
we done was road work, grading and whatnot. Our work there was mostly
between Bovill and Elk River. 'Course, it didn't go clear to Elk River;
went out there about seven miles. Oh, it was kind of bad. We didn't
h;ve anything to work with. But Potlatch Lumber Company was very good
on loaning us their equipment without charge. Then they would have
scrapers, you know, and they'd have picks andl axes and crogscut saws
and peaveys and shovels. It was more or less hand work. Anybody that
had a team, we had them working hauling rock in a little. old wagon of
some kind, and some on the scrapers, but well, we got something done
anyhow. But the jobs were manufactured, you know, just because we had
to get some money to people and that was one way of them working foradt,
In our case the road work that we done worked out pretty good because,
well, we had some regl good men, see. ‘Some of them that worked in the
woods, they could do about most anything. They'd build a bridge just
out:f§ou know, the fallen timber, trim it-- they knew'just how to go

at it.

And we did get enough rock on that road. It was a problem with™
the highway district, and I wés secretary-treasurer of that Highway
District Number Four, and I know how short they were on money. They
owed bonds. They couldn't hardly pay the interest, so we didn't have
any money, and we had to maintain that road. But through this work we
got the road widened enough and a little sprinkling of rock on it to a
point where the state then accepted the road as part of the state system.

Well that relieved us, the highway district, from maintaining it,
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JH:

SAM:

JH?:

which was a big thing for us as the highway district. Quite helpful
moneywise. And then the state, kind of piecemeal, they would extend
it a couple of miles or so. I think now, I haven't been over it just
lately, buﬁ I believe it's fair road all the way through.

This is the Bovill to Elk River road?

Yes;

It's pretty good now?

Is it all hardtop?

No, not yet. But it would seem to me that it would be harder maybe in
a place like Bovill than in a farming area where you got all your pro-
duce pretty much right to hand on the farms, and everybody's growing
his won garden. It may be harder for fooa purposes in Bovill. A

Oh, yes, Bovill, you see, they didn't-—-- That's turned off isn't it?
No, it's still on.

It's still géing. No, Bovill was a poor flace to raise any food, you
know. I don't know, it isn't all that high; it's high, but it's only

about ten miles down there to Deary and they can raise about anything

they wanted to. But Bovill, it's the nights that were so cold. - Oh,

yoﬁ couldn't think of growing potatoes, never, or tomatoes. In the
late years, some of them seemed to raise strawberries, but for a long
time there, nobody tried to raise strawberries. So there wasn't much
gardening going on, little bit, but very little. And you might say”
no farming at all. A couple of places on the edges of town maybe raised
a little oats or hay or something like that.

Do you know how the merchants did in Bovill during the Depression?

Oh, they didn't do good at all, and eventually they had to close up.
Generally speaking, no, they'd get behind on the taxes, you know, they

couldn't pay the taxes, and most of them went out of business. There
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was one store there though, the John Groh store. They were in real
bad shape, regl bad financially. And John Groh passed away, then his
wife took over, hung on for a while. Oh, she was threatened there. too
with the county tax collector-- they'd have to do something, they'd
have to take the property or something for the taxes—- but they held
off for a while, and then they got out far enough to where business
started to pick up a little bit. And that war scare in Europe, of
course, that must have been in '39, I guess—- things started picking
up pretty well from there on, and then, of course. we got into World
War II, and you could sell anything you had. So that one place came
out of it in good shape, but the others. more or less went out of
business.

Did most of the families hang on until the Potlatch started up again?
Yeah. AWell, during that period a lot of them worked in the CCC's,

that was.....

Civilian Conservation Corps?

That's right, that's right. So a lot of them, especially anybody that
worked in a superviéory capacity, such as foreman or assistant foreman.
or anything like that , it was easy for them to get om in the CCC's

as foremen. So a lot of them got pretty fair jobs, well, you know,
fair as of the time. And then the others also got omn as just laborers.
So the town was pretty well taken up with just CCC's. And over the
spell-- I don't know how long it lasted-- a year and a half or whatever
it wés before the lumber company went back to work. So there were
some people that of course moved away, quite a few of them moved
away and never came back. But, generally speaking, there was a lot of
them that étayed there and stuck it out'and,come out all right. Yes,

it was a bad period. I hope it never happens again. Sometimes you

never know.
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SAM:

Well, to look at some more pleasant things. Could you tell me what

you remembef about Pat Malone?

Well, 01d Pat; everybody in town Yoved him, you know, generally speak-
ing. I don't know how long he'd been on the sheriff's force because he
was on there when I came, ﬁut I think it was quite a number of years
before that. He was deputy sheriff, and he had all the authority, the
arresting authority, that any deputy sheriff would have, however, he
was situated there in Bovill to report things of course that he fig-
ured should be reported to the sheriff's office in Moscow. That was
mostly, I suppose, Pat's work, because he didn't make too many arrests,
some. If he did, generally speaking, it would be somebody that got a
little too drunk. But he lived there in the Spokane Hotel. Dave El-
lison and his wife, Sophie, run the hotel, and 0ld Pat lived right
there,‘both sleeping and eating. And the county paid him just a tok-
en amount. At one time, I know, it was thirty dollars a month, but he
did have his board and room. So 0ld Pat, -z U with that thirty dollars,
as long as it would last, he'd be treating the kids going by, ice cream
cone or pop or something, till the thirty would be gone, and then he'd
be broke for the rest of the month. But he didn't need any money, be-
cause he had a place to eat and sleep. But he'd sit there in the win-
dow with his corncob pipe in his mouth. : Well that was something,
there was the law enforcement-agent. It helped, I know it helped.

The county was lucky to have him there. But 0ld Pat could tell some
tall tales about things that happened in his life. All amusing. and.
well, could have happened. He was a big man, and 1'11 bet you when

he was young there wasn't too many that wanted to tangle with him either.
0f course. ﬁhen I even first knew him, he was getting old. Oh. yeah,

he was death on bootleggers, moonshiners. That seemed to be his main
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1ine of work during the Prohibition period. Oh, yeah, they used to
pull tricks on him too. But generally speaking, Pat was well liked

by everybody. ‘ Nobody took him too serious. But he was all right,

he was well worth the little it éost to keep him there.

When you say playing tricks on Pat, was there any kind of practical
jokés OFee.-

Oh. yeah, but I doﬁ't know, those better stay like they are, I think.
(Chuckles) Yeah; No, as to my knowledge Pat didn't drink. I dare
say that he did when he was younger, but in my time knowing‘him, I
never knew him to drink. But I suppose he did in his younger years.
Oh, every once in a while, you know, he'd get a call from Moscow to
look out for somebody, and he got a little work like that. I know
there was something or other in the area; I don't know just what hap-
pened there, but they were watching for somebody, and 0ld Pat was down
on the highway at Helmer this night when the family and I was coming
home, and stopped me. But he was stopping all cars. And. of course-
as soon as he'd look in the car and know who you were, "Okay!" Well,
that was a job for him. I forget just what that was.

Can you remember any of the tall tales that Pat used to tell?

Oh, the one that he used to tell me, it seemed about évery year or so
he'd come over and tell me the same story. Of course, I know that
he'd forgot that he'd said it. I don't know the start of this either,
but there were two desperadoes, and he got word they were coming from
Clafkia on the passenger train, and he was over there. But they jumped
off on the opposite side of the train and started across the meadow.
And by the time he got around to the end of the car they were running,
and he said he took a shot at one. And.he said, "I'm pretty sure hit
him. But I didn't get him though, because ﬁy‘the time I got over there

he was gone and the other fella was gone. But I know I hit him. Yep.
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I know I hit him!" But it was a long story. O0ld Pat, he'd tell me

the details of what he'd done. It kind of slipped my mind, because,
well, while I'd be listening I'd be doing my own work at the same time.
And I'd think, you know, well . it's about time for 01d Pat to come

over and tell me that same story again, and sure enough, (Chuckles)

But I never let on to him that I'd ever heard it before. It was all
news to me. Then.when he'd get through, he'd get up, go out, back on
the job. Well, his job was sitting there in that hotel. Had a big
window there, set right in there in one of those jeather rocking chairs.
No, that's the one I remember him telling about.

Oh of course, that time-—- Well, . this was the truth, about the
time the safe was stolen out of the depot. And old Pete Caldwell, the
conductor woke him up, told him. The first thing he'd do was put that
corncob in his mouth, of course, and get his shées tied. And this was
in June, and Pete Caldwell stayed there while Pat was getting dressed,
and 01d Pat said, "I'll be jeepers if there was just a fresh snow." But
there wasn't. But then. he called me aﬁd he called Sam Peterson; the
banker, I don't know why he called him but he did, and by the time I
got down to the depot Sam was down there. too, and 01d* Pat, You could
see what happened. These people broke that window out, and they broke it
out completely, took it out, so it just looked like a clean window in-
stead of a broken window. Inéide, the doors all opened from the inside.
This‘safe, it weighed 1,350 pounds I believe 1is what the safe weighed.
And it had casters omn it, and they rolled it out, out on the platform,
and they got a push car from the tool house, and with the gangplank just
rolled this onto the pushcar and pushed it down the WI&M, which was a
little bit down grade. Well. 0l1d Pat gﬁeSSéd that that's where they'd
had to have've gone with that, because there was no motor OTr anything
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they could do that. So then, well, better get the section boss. His
name was Charlie Eller. But Charlie Eller had to get the car out and
go down there. Well then, Charlie, he had to call his whole crew. He
had about four men, laborers; he had to get them out. This was probably
about three in the morning. And so he got to going, and 01d Pat sat
right on the front with the flashlight and the gun drawn, going down
through those cuté. And here was the safe, oh two and a half miles
down, I suppose. They'd rolled it off the side and blew it. There wasn't
much money in it. There was express money orders, but in blowing it
the explosion burnt the money orders, so they didn't try to take those
at all. Otherwise. I think, they would have, and tried to pass 'enm,
but (there was) a little burnt mark right along the edge of all of 'em,
so they left those, -~ They just took what cash was there, they didn't
take any checks; The car tickets was blown up in trees for twenty-five
feet or more; We recovered most of the tickets; that was no loss, any-
way. But by shaking trees for a couple of days afterwards you could
get more tickets down. I believe there was very few tickets lost. No,
we didn't see anything of any men.

SAM: Did Pat have his gun drawn all the way down?

JH: Oh. yes, he sat right on the front of the gas car witg his gun drawn
all the way down. Oh, it'd a been so easy if they had a been bad nen
and wanted to kill all of us, they could have done it, we was just git—
ting ducks, going down through those cuts with trees on each side. One
sidé‘anyway was all trees. Oh, I never thought at the time how danger-
ous it was, but afterwards I sized it up--my lord!! Oh, there for two
or three nights there, gangs of us organized a watch out around the edge
of town, if those fellajd be coming back in, because they'd have to get

somewhere for food. But nobody showed up. But Pat thOughté— I think

this was over near Park, there was a schoolhouse over there, and 1
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think Pat was with some of the sheriff's force that kind of had a lead
over there. And there was somebody, I guess, running across a field,
and again Old Pat said he took a shot, (Chuckles) but he didn't get him.
He was too far. "But I think I hit him", he said. "I think I hit him."
Yeah. So that was one experience I had with Pat. Oh, they always said ®
he had a lot of grit. But there was a lot of foolishness there too, I
c;uld see afterwafds, the way we done that job.

SAM: I wonder if Pat Qas drinking and keeping it from ya. I mean, I wonder,
'cause I hear a number of stories that make it sound like if he wasn't
drinking, he sure was letting his friends get away with it.

JH: Yeah. Oh. yeah, there was stories, you know, too, about Pat doing his
share of drinking, but. as I say, I never seen it, I never seen any ef-
fects on him. But I didn't see him all the time either. Sure, I'd see
him every day.

SAM: One story I can still remember, somebody told me when these medi?e shows
came through, one of the jokes, they said is, "What's an island?" The

answer is, "The city marshall surrounded by a keg of booze." (Laughs)

s
T

Yeah. I think Pat for a while there, that's kind of before my time

too, he was I guess kind of city marshall as well. I think the vil-
lage may have paid hyme something. But that wasn't the case when I was
there, he was strictly county.

SAM: Would you tell me about the last time that you saw him?

JH: Oh yes, that time I didn't #now that he was even sick. But oh, it was
along about eleven o'clock in the forenmoon, and Mrs. Elison called me

at the depot; Would I stop and see Pat on my way home for lunch? And I Said
yes, and I did. I went into that little room where he stayed and he

was in bed, and half crying. ‘And all ;hat was on his mind was he didn't
want to be buried in pauper's field. And that's just the way he'd say

it: "I don't want to be buried in pauper's field." Well, I assured
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him that that would never happen. And he questioned me a little bit
about it, "Yog're sure about it?" "Oh, yes," 1'd say, "that'll never
happen, Pat." Well then he felt better, and he threw the covers back
and he sat on the edge of_the bed. It seemed to me he felt a gobd deal
better, he was relieved of something he'd been worrying about.

Well, when I .got home, which was only a few minutes, I called the
sheriff's office in Moscow, and told them about talking with 01d Pat,
angtgzrﬁas sick and in bed. So they said, "Well, we'll send a car up
and get him." And they did. And when they had him in the car and start-
ed out of town, he told them, he said, "That's my last trip up that Hill;"
the grade going out of Bovill toward Deary, "my last trip up that hill."
Well the next day I called the sheriff's office to see how Pat was. And
$hey said, "Well, the doctors can't find a thing wrong with him! All he
needs is a little hospitalization, and we'll keep him here for a day or
two. He'll be all right." Well, that would have been on Saturdaye it
was Friday that they took him over, and this was Saturday. And then
Sunday the family and I went to Lewiston to the Lewiston Roundup and
there was another c&uple with us. I told them I wanted to go home through
Moscow, I wanted to see how Old Pat was. Okay, and so we went back through
Moscow, arrived there I suppose eight o'clock or such. And Old Pat was
dead. He had diéd. So I guess he knew more about it than the doctors.

He knew that was his last trip up that hill, and they didn't know it.

So he had a nice funeral in Moscow where he's buried. And then a
little later I circulated a petition around amongst his friends in Bovill
for a headstone, and got a price on one from Sturdevant in Moscow. I
figured out the people in Bovill that would give toward it, and come down
and figured out if I could get five dollars apiece from the ones that I

thought I could, that would be enough. And with one exception, everybody

that I contacted said, "Yes, glad to." They gave me five dollars. And
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there was one fella that said, "Well, now, if you don't get enough, come

back and I'11 give you more." That was Dave Elison. But we got enough

on the first run, and so he has a headstone today.

My kids, oh, they thought a

lot of 01d Pat. And every Memorial

Day when we go to the cemetery, after we've taken care of the two graves

we have there of the family, the

next piace they head for is 01d Pat's,

put some flowers on 0ld Pat's grave. So he's well remembered by a lot

of people. Oh, I think 01d Pat was honest enough and he done his job.

However, it was in his way, that was the way it had to be! It'd have

to be in his oun way. I think he had been a policeman earlier in life,

well for a short time in New York City, but then again, in where?

Was it Duluth?
Duluth, Duluth, absolutely.

That's what I heard.

That's it. Duluth, Duluth, Minnesota. Yeah, he worked there for quite

a while, I guess. Well. at that

time, I think, there was probably log-

ging around Duluth. I'm quite sure there was lumbering and logging in

there. I kind of think he attached to that and maybe that's why he drift-

ed West. I certainly did know, but I don't remember now what got him

out West. That's right, I'm glad you said that.

've heard it from a couple of people. I've heard other places, toO,

but Duluth is the one.

Yeah, yeah, I guess he was probably there for quite a while, because he

talked a lot about Duluth.

' me
SAM: What about the time you mentioned tkohen you was justice of the peace

there and wasn't tough enough for Pat's 1liking?

Oh yeah. There was one time there. This Nick the Greek, they called

him, he was bootlegging. He wasn't moonshining, but he was bootlegging,

and Pat was trving to catch him,

and he'd had a couple of raps before
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that for bootlegging. And this time 0ld Pat searched his little cabin
where he was staying, shack, whatever you want to call it, from floor
to top, and he came up with two half pints of moonshine. That's all he
could find.in Nick's place, but then he took him for that, for possess-
ion. That was the law too——- possession or transportation or manufact-
u:ihg, any of that was unlawful-- but this was for possession. There
was only two half pints, and, well, I could see that Prohibition was
just about to be repealed, and it was,not too long afterwards, so I
didn't feel too strongly about it then. But Yyes, 01d Pat wanted me to
give that Greek a jail sentence, and that would have beén his third time,
and that would have been pretty severe....
(End of Side B)

SAM: So fat wanted you to give him a jail sentence?

JH: Yeah, Pat wanted me to Sive him a jail sentence, and that would be the
third time for ﬁim, and he'd get quite a jolt. But I‘couldn't see it
that way for only two half pints. I think I gave Nick his choice of a
fine or jail sentence, and I think I said fifty dollars a half a pint,
and that would have been a hundred dollars, because he had two half
pints, or fifty days in jail for each half pint, and that'd have been
a'hundred days. Well I was pretty sure that Nick had the money, and I
wasn't wrong on that. Well, he elected to pay the fi;e. And 01d Pat
was shaking his head all the time. (Laughs) He didn't like that.

.

And Nick says, "Well, I haven't got the money on me.™ "Ho," 1 said; ) &
didn't expect you to, but you can get it surely." "Well," he says, 'can

I g6~and get it?" I said, "Sure, go and get the money." Why: it was no
tiﬁe, an hour, and he was back with the money. But 01d Pat, he cussed

a little bit under his breath as he was going out the door. No, he didn't
like that. (Chuckles) He wanted that guy to go to jail. But this fella,

he wasn't a bad guy at all. Sure, he was selling a little moonshine, but

he wasn't selling it to kids or anybody like that. And I knew in my own
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mind that it was going to be iegal in just a short time. But no, Pat
was disgusted with me there for a while. He didn't visit with me very
much for a little while after that, but it wasn't long till he got over
it. And he never talked about'it again. No, he was just as friendly

to me afterwards as before.

Did Pat go after many moonshiners, do ydu think? Or were the guys left
pretty much alone unless they sort of got in his way?

No, it was the other way around. It seemed to me that 0ld Pat liked to
go after 'em. That was one thing that it seemed that he liked to.do.
Well, he thought he was a pretty good detective himself, you know, but
(Chuckles) really he'd have to have a fresh snow. I think that's where
Pat did pretty good. And he was pretty good at scaring some of them. too;
whether he scared them or not would be another thing, but he'd always
think he scared them out. (Chuckles) Well I don't know, oh I suppose
he got a moonshiner or two in his life, but mostly he was for bootleg-
ging, it'd be bottle men you'd see around, selling. To catch a moon-
shiner you'd have to get out in the woods some place, you know, where
they had a cabin or ;omething 1ike that. See a lot of smoke, heavy smoke,
coming out of a chimney for a long period of time, youl’d know that some-
body in there was brewing something, cooking that mash. Yeah. No, it
always seemed to me and others too there, that that was ome of Pat's de-
lights. If he could really catch a good moonshiner or boctlegger, that
was something he liked to do.

I supﬁose that everybody knew him so well they'd just stay out of his
way, if that was their business.

Oh yes, and. oh, some of them said they could follow right behind him

if they'd see where Pat was going, then theymcould walk behind, (Laughs)

that he never looked back. I don't know, oh. you'd hear things like that,

vou know, make fun of him.
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SAM: Well, did you see much of it‘iﬁ town? You say that when the lumberjacks
came into town it was often to get drunk, these guys coming out of camp.
Did you see mﬁch of it?

JH: No, you see 1 didn't because, well, there was mno places of business in
town that you could do it.. Oh the poolhalls, there was a couple of
them, séft drinks and pool tables, card games, but oh they wouldn't
allow it at all, you know. It was quite a penalty, you know, you could
shut 'em up and put 'em out of business. No, it was never allowed in
those places, you didn't see it in ;here. I think really the talk about
the lumberjacks and going to town and getting drunk was before Prohib-
ition. Sure you'd see it at omne time, there“ﬁmiots of saloons in Bovill.
I never seen it, it was out when I came there. In those days that's
what would happen, and every other little town would be the same way.
Palousé was quite a place they said, I wo;ked at Palouse for a while
for the railroad. That along Main Street right from the Northern Pacific
Depot, up and back, and I don't know how many saloons, something like,
oh gosh, twenty Or more, twenty-seven I believe they said at one time.

Iﬁ you made the rounds, the depot up to the end of the street and back
down. But Palouse was a kind of jumping-off place to? at one time for
the railroad. And that's where you get the railroad to go up the WI&M
to the logging country, you seé, Bovill. But no, I never seen the
lumberjacks doing that, I've only heard of it. And I'm sure it's t;ue.
Oh and you'd see one just like I mentioned about Ted Collins-- sure you'd
see Ted, he'd be drunk around sometimes because of a little moonshine
that he'd Set from somebody. Have it ditched somewhere, you know, out,
but not in the places, no. You wouldn't see them drinking TEL

SAM: Was there much social life in Boville in tbe 120's when you first came?

JH: Oh yes, oh yes, they had a moving picture show there, they had shows oh

three nights a week, I suppose. And then the upstairs part was a dance
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floor, dances;fﬁwo or three every month. Card’parties. Oh yes, the
social life there— and even during that Depression the social life was
probably better than at any other time. They'd have dances there-- as

I say, nobody had a dime, you know, so the music would be volunteers. I
know we had one superintendent of schools that played the violin, some-
oﬁe else played something else, my wife played the piano, and it was all
for free. And then for lunch oh people would bring little things they
could sandwich, you know. You see there was quite a lot of wild game
around that area, deer and elk. There was a lot of meat come in there
that way. You could make up sandwiches you kﬁow with thaf pretty good,
(Chuckles) you could grind it up, well little things like that. And
then they would pass the hat, and evefybody knew now, ''If you don't have
a nickel, for Godsake, don't use your last nickel to put in." It was
just to buy coffee, that was the only thing, that was the only expense,
was to buy the coffee. Oh they had good times, good times. And then
some you see was making home brew, and you would go to a house and have
a bottle of beer. ¥eah, I'd say the social 1ife during that Depression...
And then the people stayed together better, you know. Oh before that
some of them you know that had cars would go to Moscow, to shows or some-—
thing like that; that depression come along, you didn't have that kind
of money, you know,to drive cars. So they stayed at home and made their
own entertainment. It was gdod. I've heard a lot of people talk about
that afterwards, that really, socially, that was the best times of their
1ife right there, during that depression. Well you know they always
say, '"Misery likes company." Well maybe that isn't a good definition,
but just about everybody was broke is what I'm trying to get at. So

the guy next to you was no different. .I don't know, you could count

the people on the payroll there on your two hands, I know, because the



JOSEPH HOLLAND 25

school teachers and myself and a few peoﬁle working, taking care of the
horses, that was about it. Even the superintendent Hogle, they put him
down on such a low wage, he told me, "I wouldn't miss it if I never got
it at all." But it was down and you could see the company didn't know
- if they'd ever get going again.

SAM: What was Nogle doing then?

JH: He was superintendent.

SAM: Same thing.

JH: Yeah, well he had nothing much to do at all then, you seé, only, oh they
had buildings there, a big warehouse and an office building. Nobody in
the office, but a big warehouse where a lot of the stuff was stored. Oh
he didn't have much to do, but this group of men that were taking care
of the horses, he had to supervise them, you know. Buy a little hay and
grain once in a while. I think they said there was 260 head of horses
there. Well they had quite a few camps around when they were working,
and every camp was about a hundred-twenty men. I never did know how
many horses was in each camp though, isn't that funny? I knew the amount
of men. ‘

SAM: I was curious about the single lumberjacks that stuck around, that were
there logging for a number of years. Did they sort of get adopted by
families? Did they have real close ties where they became part of Fhe
social life of Bovill too?

JH: Oh in some cases yes, the single lumberjack, he had special family
friéqu. Yes, that happened. But when they'd talk about going to town
it was Spokane, you know, they wouldn't stop short of Spokane. Always
by train too in those days. They had two ways of going there by train.
You could go down on the WI&M to Palouée, and have two chances there,

either the Great Northern or the Northern Pacific get to Spokane; or

they can take the Milwaukee to St. Maries and in. So they went both ways.
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I know one time there, this must have been about 1927 1'd say.

We had a big fella, Charlie Albright, he died right on the basketball

floor. We was having a town team bask
ager of the team. And it was a nice n
think probably. And we'd had a good t

playoff, the winner would be sort of d

etball game there and I was man-
ight in the winter, February 1
eam that year, and this was the

eclared the champion. I think

we were playing Kendrick, and the crowd.,—— the gym was full, a nice night.

And this Charlie, put up his hand, "Time out!", and down he went.

We got over there, a bunch of us, and he wasn't coming too, and every-

body done everything they could, you know, artificial respiration. I

remember we got a barrel in from outside the door of the gym, and put

him on that, rolled him back. Everybody had an idea, you know, what to

do. And there was a couple of nurses
"I can't feel any pulse." But the oth
she didn't say.

- We had a doctor stationed in Bovi

tore out to get Dr. Brown. That place

in the room. Well one nurse said,

er one, whether she could or mnot,

11 then, Dr. Brown, SO somebody

was getting panicky, you know.

The man was there and hadn't come to and nothing was being done. And

then finally Dr. Brown showed up. Of

snow was awfully deep then. And he go

course he was just afoot, oh the

t inside the door, "Well, settle

down," he says, 'the doctor is here, the doctor's here now." And he

walked over to him and examined him a

little bit. "Well," he said,

"we'll have to take him up to the--", well it used to be a hospital,

but it wasn't operating then as a hosp

ital, but that's where the doctor's

office was. So he said we'll have to take him up to the hospitaL It

was the hospital building, see, SO then they sent somebody for a stret-

cher somewhere close, I guess. Got there with the stretcher and we put

Charlie on it, and he was a big fella,

about 240 pounds. And that snow
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all there was was trails to walk in. And oh we had to change off a
good many t1mes because one would have to plow through the snow while
the other omne walked the path, and then they'd shift over just a little
ways and they'd change off. And I remembernwound up being the omne that
was carrying him in the dAOr. 1'd interchanged different times, I was
one of them. And the doctor said, "Thanks boys!" And he held up his
hand and hé said, "His relatives will be here tomorrow." Well, he was

a single man. He says, "His relatives will be here tomorrow.'" Well that
was the first that any of us knew that Charlie was dead! I suppose we
should have known more, but we didn't. We thought, you know, there
was a chance that he was alive, and would be. But that doctor knew

all the time. But I think he handled it just right, because the crowd

you know, was getting kind of panicky: do something, do something! Well
everything was being done that could be. He died right there apparently,
because he never stirred.

But then he had lived at Palouse I guess, SO the funeral was sched-
uled for Palouse a couple of days later. And we had a special train
come up from Palousé and took pret' near the whole town down to Palouse
to the funeral, and of course, had to bring 'em back. I1'11 never for-
get that day either. This engineer, Elmer Helm, he was quite a guy.
Well he seen that big crowd on the depot platform, with a steam eng%pe
you know. And he set up there, the train would run right on by the
depot for oh half a mile or more, and then there was a Y out there where
they;d Y the engine. And when he seen that crowd out there— this Helm,
he was kind of a showman-- he must have give it everything it had, be-
cause he came by that depot, and that old engine was just a-swayin ,-
you know. He was putting it as fast as he could. For his own reasons

is all! But you know it scared that crowd half to death. But still

for all they wanted to go to the funeral, and they did! They got there
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v(Chuckling}, but there were people got sick‘on the way down. But I
know they didq't get sick from the ride going down there. They were soO
gcared with him coming in, théy didn't know what he'd be doing on thé
way down. But we all got @own there and back. But now that's the way
people would do there, you see, just something like that. The whole
town would turn out for it. They were good people, real good people,
generally speaking. 'Cour;e that ended the basketball for the season,
and should have.

SAM: Were sports very big in Bovill?

JH: Oh they always had a baseball team, always. And a pretty good onmne.
And we'd have little leagues made up of, well Potlatch always had a
strong team, Genesee always had a good outfit, they were in the league.
Kendrick always had a good one, they were in. Bovill, and then some-
times Elk River would come up with a pretty good team. They had a
sawmill up there in Elk River until about oh, 1930. I think that saw-
mill went out. When the sawmill was there Elk River was a much lar-
ger town than Bovill was, and they had a ﬁretty good baseball team.

It. went down after éhat, of course, “. Bh. yeah)Troy would have a
team some years, and some years they didn't. But we had a league and
real interest in it. The townspeople would follow the team around the
country. We'd go to St. Maries, and sometimes Emida and different Q}aces.
But the league games were interchangeablé with these other towns. Oh
we have won the championship there and we've lost too, more times than
we wén. But once in awhile we'd come in with a winner. Yeah.

It's a funny thing: Moscow couldn't support a town baseball team.
Too much university there, I guess. For some reason Moscow never had
a town baseball ﬁeam. You'd think there'd be enough university stud-

ents that'd stay around there during the summer that they could get up

a team, but no. Sometimes we used to get some guys from the university
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to come up and we'd find them a job for the summer and they'd play ball -
with us. Red Jacoby was one of them. He was with us, oh I don't know?
three years Ilthink. He later went on, you know, -to Wyoming, and he be-
came a gradﬁate manager there. In fact he just died about a year ago.

I met a man here in Spokané about a year ago, and he was from Wyoming.
And.I said, "Do you know, I only knew of one man," I guess I probably
said, "I know one man in Wyoming, and that's Red Jacoby!"

He says, "L know Led J‘aub,‘."
AThat's kind of funny, isn't it? There's a whole state, and he did,

he knew him. Oh yeah, we had baseball, basketball, we used to play
volleyball. Yeah. But that isn't so today, you know, those towns now,
they don't have a baseball team. Oh there's probably some of them might
have a basketball team, but it's never organized like it used to be,

you know. We had, as I say, those leagues drawn up, we had rules and

we had - officials made up of the gounty.

That story about the doctor reminded me of that story that you told me
about when your wife was having the baby.

Oh.

Would you tell me that?

Yeah, well yes, that was when our youngest boy Jack was born, on April
5th, 1931. And we had a doctor in Bovill, I believe that was Dr. Por-
rall, I wouldn't just swear to his name, but I think it might have been
Dr. Porrall. He visited my wife on this day thch was Saturday, I >
think, yes. And, "Oh," he said, "nothing to worry about," he said,
"you;ve got a week or maybe two weeks yet." So-he told her that he

was taking the train to Elk River that day and he'd be up there over

the weekend. So during that Saturday night here the labor pains start-
ed, and we knew the baby was coming. So I h;ked up to the doctor's of-

fice which was the old hospital and asked the doctor's wife to come

down with me and she did. I was awful glad that she did come because
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she knew so much more about it than I did. But of course got ahold of
the doctor by phone at Elk River. Well he had no way of comingKOF,:
course, Fhe roaai wa$ - impassable, nobody could get over it. You couldn't
call it a highway, it was just a road at the time, but you couldn't get
over it. So well, couldn'é do anything about that.

'But Axel Ande;son, some way he found out about that. I hadn't
talked to Axel, he found out about it. And they had this old Dodge bug
that they used to run on the railroad sometimes, nothing but an old Dodge
car with the four railroad wheels on it. But it had been put away for
the winter, hadn't been used again that year, and the battery was out of
it. And he scouted around, and he got a battery and got it in that old
rig, and he got the doctor and brought him down to Bovill. I didn't even
know they were coming. Here they showed up at the house. I was awfully
glad to see them. Well the doctor said evgrything was all right, glad
to hear that too of course. But I was so excited, you know, I didn't
even ask Axel if he'd like a cup of coffee. I told him about it some-
time later. "Oh," he said, "I understand. I had kids too, you know."

I always thanked Axel for that. How he got the word I don't know; He
did find out, but somebody told him. And this was late at night too.
Yeah.

You know, and then when the Depression come on hard, a little worse,
we didn't have a doctor. We didn't have a doctor in Bovill. But here
they had 260 horses across there, and the Potlatch Lumber Company did
have a veterinary. So you'd hear this around town: "The horses are
more important than the peoplel" Yeah.

Did people go to the vet when they got sick?
Quite often, especially if they got hurt, on_know. And he did have a

reputation, he could set a bone probably as good as a medical doctor--

your wrist, or your leg or something. He also knew a little something
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aboul medicine . Yeah! 'Course 9ou know he couldn™ prachie or they'd

have him in jail some ﬁlace. Oh yes, a lot of people would take his

advice. And they'd say for an injury he'd go right ahead and fix them
up until, you know, they could get to a doctor, which would be the next

day. Yeah, that's the way that worked.

(End of Side )

SAM:

JH:

Do you know what they used to call Axel, what his nickname was?

"The Big Swede." Yep, whenever anybody would say the Big Swede,
Yyou knew whp they) meant”. Et war nobody but Axel-

sSam: e war o PrLHb "“M’k—b 5\,\3?

Tne-

Oh 9¢F§, Yts he waf, He el o real bnrky man,
Yeah, he was in the snowplow one time on one of their logging roads,

and the goldarn snowplow derailed and went over a trestle, is what it
was, went down there quite a ways. Had a stove in there and of course
it fell over.It's a wonder the thing didn't burn up. Axel, he got hurt
pretty bad. But he came out of it. I think he might have broken his
shouldér, but he was awful lucky that it wasn't worse. And another
fella with him, Joe Evans, he got banged up some toO, broke his leg or
arm or something, he was laid up for a while. Oh. I'1ll betcha Axel's
had a lot of experiences in the woods.

(Chuckles) They had a fella there, his name was Joe Buck. Well
he was, oh I don't know, a jack of all trades, and he.was sort of a
painter too. But he was working for the Potlatch at the time in what
they called the basin, which is between Bovill and Elk River but off
to the east some. They had, .oh about three camps out there I think:
A, B, C, D, maybe they had four camps out there. The logs were trans-—
ported into Elk River for the mill. Then they had a big coal dump out
there, and the coal would come into Elk River, and then it would have

to be taken out to these camps with the shay engine, oh maybe four or

five cars at a time. And this Joe Buck, he was working out there as

. an engine watchman. Well that would be at night when the engines were

tied up, he was watching engines. Well it seems like there was no crew
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around. This Joe, he was a kind of a strong union man too. "They didn't
know it though until then. So it was this night and they were getting
short on coal and there, as this story goes, Axel asked him, "Joe,
could you take the engine gnd run into Elk River and get one carload

of coal?" Joe says, "Sure Axel, sure I can, but vill T.7" (Laughs)

And he didn't.

SAM: Axel didn't even can him?

JH: Oh no, no. And I think it was the saqﬁguy, I'm pretty sure it was Joe
Buck, he was kind of a bull cook around the camp one time. Oh, there
was little jobs, you know, maybe they'd have a little pump out here
somewhere to pump water into the camp, OT other little duties. "Well,
we'll give you two hours for this or four hours for this," and then
cleaning out the bunkhouses and whatnot. Then they were getting these
extra duties onto 'em, you know, ''Well, how about an hour for that?"
Anyway, it all added up to twenty-five hours, and Joe, he wondered how
he was gonna work that, (chuckling) with only twenty-four hours in
the day. Well, I guess they got it straightened out. But you see
that would be kind éf along the line of gyppo, give you an hour's pay
today if you take care of this. .

SAM: Do you know if the men considered Axel as a big management person, OT
if they they thought of him more as a worker like themselves? :

JH: No, I've never known of Axel to do a physical day's labor in his life.

He was always some kind of a boss, when I knew him. No, and I don't know,
he wés in the United States Army in World War I, but I don't know what

he done just when he first come out. He may have worked in the woods

then, but that was way ahead of my time. But from the time I knew him,
from 1925<on, heiwas always in the supérvisgry capacity. He was a fore-
man or assistant foreman, or. well, I don't know. No, I never knew

him as an assistant foreman, he was either a foreman or higher ranking.
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SAM:

JH:

Foreman, and then you see they'd have what they'd call the walking
boss, he was higher‘than the foreman. And then ahead of him-would be
the superinten&ent. But the walking boss was kind of a trouble shoot-
er, you know, that'd gét around the camps, see what the foremen were
doing. His work would mosﬁiy be with the foremen for the different
camés. of course,.he'd hike out into the woods too, to see what was
going on.

Would you tell me what the responsibilities were of your job, being
depot agent there?

Well, it was just like depot agent any other place. I was the tele-
graph operator, of course, and there I did the telegraphing as well.
An agent is responsible for everything that happens in and around his
station. And you had to see that things was going right, and you'd
have to keep in good touch, good relatlons with the business people.
Those days everything was handled on the railroad, there was no truck—
ing. Trucking didn't come along for quite a while afterwards. And
then. of course. the telegraph, you're manager of the Western Union,
and then the express company, you're the express agent. And with your
heip, you know, you had the cashier there, you had to supervise him
and see that he's doing his work right, same with your warehouseman;
you do have to oversee those two, I did anyway, andk;g;ld be the case.
Well. that's about it. Well if you was at a station where there waé‘
a competitor railroad, then as a railroad agent, a lot of your work
would be soliciting business. But that at Bovill I didn't have to do,
because the two railroads were right there in the same building, and
going different difections. So there was no soliciting to do. And
then. of course the mail is handled on. those trains, you were res-

ponsible for that mail until after it leaves the station. You were

responsible for just everything in and around the station.
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Well, after I stayed there for so long you see, and after a num-
ber of years, the management of both railroads more or less left me
alone. Very séldom did they ever give me instructions of what had to
be done that wasn't being done or anything like that. They kind of
relied on me to run it up ghere, and I did the best I could. And I
really enjoyed my work. I think one reason that I did is because I
got along quite well with the management. I didn't try to bicker or
fight with them. That's not pleasant work when you don't have boss-
es that you get along with. I didn't have any bosses on the job, but
here like Spokane, the Milwaukee, this was the headquarters for them,
Potlatch for the WI&M. But I got along with them good, and you diq
say you talked with Walt Gamble-- he was ﬁy boss frﬁm the‘WI&ﬁAfor
quite a number of years. Got along well with him.

Evérything you know. those days came in and out of town on the
railroad. Oh you do things sometimes, probably you shouldn't, but
then you do it anyway. I know one time there we had a fella died
right across the meadow. And these people, the relatives, were from
Spokane, and they wanted the body brought into Spokane. Again this
was in the winter, deep snow. But this undertaker I'}l call him |
(mortician, whatever you want to), came out from Spokane, and the
drayman took him across the meadow to this place where the man had
died-- and he'd been dead for a couple of days-- a day and a half an;—
way,vI guess—- while this passenger train went to Elk River and back,
which would take about two and a half hours. And the drayman took
this man over, and he prepared the body over there well enough to ship.
But he thought it was-- all he had was a basket, and they're narrow
you know, néfrow as a body, well, nothing buE_a basket is all it is,
wrapped around. And then the drayman brought it back to the depot.

I should have known this, but I didn't, and here we had the body on
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SAM:

JH:

SAM:

the truck and ready to load into the baggagé car. Aag_this baggage
man on that t;ain, he was all right, Stevé Kinnard was his name, but

he was one that wanted fo stay right as strictly to the letter of the
law and rule as he could. _ And when he seen the carrying basket, that's
what they called it, and no handles on it, he said, "No, no, no hand-
les!" "Why," I said, "it can be handled easy enough." He said, "No
handles on it!" Well, I couldn't argue with that, you know, because
there wasn't any handles on it. "Nope!" "Well," I said, "I'1ll go in
and see." So I went in the depot, and the conductor was still in there
because Bovill was a registered station and the conductors had to come
to register. And I told the conductor, '"Can you hold up for a minute
or so?" "Yeah." He didn't know what I was doing,none of his business,
and no use in me telling him. This I shouldn't have done, but I didn't
have tiﬁe to do it properly---(phone rings) I'11 have to answer that
phone. (Break)
You were just telling me about how you did a little short circuiting

of the rules there on that dead man.

Oh, yes, yeah.

You were talking to the conductor. .

Yeah, he said. okay, he'd wait a little bit. Well I set down to the
typewriter and wfote out a message addressed to this baggageman to
accept this corpse as is, and signed the superintendent's name to it.
And I took it out and handed it to him. He said, "That's good enough
for me, the superintendent's name." He took the message; he took the
corpse, and I never heard another word about it. It was all right.

Now this was on Saturday, see, and no trains on Sunday. If that body
couldn't ha&é been transported, they'd have to have held that body

some place until Monday! And you know I would have done most anything
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to have got that cérpse moving. And. of course, they could have, you
know, put me on the carpet for that, had any trouble come of it. But.
no, it was ail rights ¥ didn't make a practice of doing those things.
And 1 wouldn't do it for myself, but that one time I did that because,
wgll, 1 didn't have the time. It takes time to get ahold of the sup-
erintendent, Yyou know in Spokane’and get this thing cleared. And I
couldn't expect ﬁhat conductor-— because passenger trains leave on

the minute, you Kknow, when they're due to leave, that's when they want
to leave. So that worked very good, I thought. I wasn't exactly hold-
ing my breath for a few days afterwards, but I thought maybe something
might come of it. But nothing did. No. So that's one of the things

this particular agent done, (laughs.)

SAM: Were there real differences between the two lines, besides the fact.

JH

that one was organized by a lumber company, in the way the lines op—
erated, that you had to follow?

No. They all had the same rules, you know. All the trains run under
train orders and timetables, and it's all just a good deal the same
éystem. Their accounting is just a good deal on the same order, only
there was one separate set of accounts for one railxoad and one for
the other. Oh, as one brakeman said there one time, he was arguing

a iittle bit whith the brakeman from the Milwaukee, he said, "Wel%,
our railroad isn't as long.as yours, but it's just as wide!" You see,
in a way a railroad is a railroad. And the WI&M was an Interstate
Commerce road too, because it's run into more than one state see, from
Washington and then into Idaho. And their plans apparently had been
to go on to Montana, but fire or something in the area where they in-
tended to go changed the plans. So fheynnever got into Montana, but

today still the name of the railroad is Washington, Idaho and Montana.

UUPR—
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Yeah, some of them used to say, "Will I Make it," for WI&M, "wiii 1
Make it?" And then another fella I heard say, "Maybe I Will," turn
it around. Oh yeah. Oh there was an awful lot of logs went out of
there by railroad in those days.

SAM: Which way did more logs go?

JH: Potlatch. Potlatch see had a good size mill there. One time, I don't
know whether it was regarded the second largest in the country, I be-
lieve it was. I believe it was considered the second largest sawmill
in the United States. But then shortly after there was some bigger
ones went in. The one at Lewiston was bigger, and I think Longview
was a bigger omne.

SAM: Did a lot of that same timber come back through when it was sawed up?

JH: Oh yes, oh yes, a lot of it from the Potlatch mill come right back
through Bovill and go on East. I think that was one of the reasons
that the Milwaukee bought that road, you see, before that the busin-
ess out of Potlatch was sort of divided up. Now at Palouse there's
two‘railroads, the Northern Pacific andhthe Great Northern, and we'll
just say that each af them got a third, and then a third of it would
go to Bovill for the Milwaukee. They didn't hold right onto those
bases, but that's roughly spgaking, you know, they divided it up.

But then, the Milwaukee buying the WI&M, well now they get the'lionfﬁ
share of it, you know. I don't know how much they get, but probably
seventy-five percent I suppose of the lumber that's cut at Potlatch
willxgo through Bovill and generally speaking on to the East. Most
Jof it goes Gast. Very few carloads of lumber out of Potlatch ever
goes to the_West, so these sawmills on the west coast, I guess, takes
care of this area. But @ast, yeah. . i
SAM: So Bovill being at that juncture point sounds to ne lfk; it was really

at a very central location for shipping logs.
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Oh yes. Yeah, the logs, you see, came in there and then went to Pot-
latch. We had a pole yard there too, cedar pole, and it's still going.
They shipped a lot of poles out of there, creosoted, you know. It
used to be in the summertime we'd have quite a few sheep, quite a few,
sometimes. you know. a straight, strictly sheep train. They'd come in
; the ageee mends

about Memorial Day: I think,that they would have with the Forest Ser-
vice to have the sheep on the forest land-- and that's where they
mostly done their grazing-- was June 1st, but they always seemed to
always get in about a day or so before. And they'd graze all summer
until September. Generally around Labor Day they'd start shipping
them out. And then trainloads, you see, not carloads, but trainloads—
mostly on to Chicago. You wouldn't know where they'd go to from there,
but you know they had the yards there.

But that's all a thing of the past, there's no more sheep grazed
in the country at all. I don't know why; Somebody told me why, but
I didn't believe it. You know those sheep tenders or sheepherders, or
whatever you want to call them-- a lot of them were Basques—— came
over here, and they iiked sheep and they knew how to handle sheep,and
just everybody can't. Oh yeah, an owner told me, "Oh it makes a big
difference if you've got a man tending herds that knows how and one
that doesn't." But this fella told me why there's no more sheep anys
more, bécause those fellas quit coming over here to herd them. He
said, "That's why, they can't get them." Whether it is or not, I don't
know.\ Yeah, with sheep you got to keep 'em on the move, now isn't
that funny. Now with hogs it's always been my understanding, although
I don't pretend to be an expert at all on that, but you keep hogs in

a sort of small pen and feed 'em heavy,-and:that's where they put on

the most weight. But with sheep, of course they're grazing, you got

i
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to keep 'em going. A sheep will eat about so much then they lay down.
Well a herder, you can't let 'em do that. You got to keep 'em mov-
ing. And when they move they eat. Isn't that funny? (Chuckles)
Just the opposite of the hogs-- keep 'em moving and then they keep
eating. The only time you want 'em still is at night. |

SAM: Wﬁen you mentioned the cedar yard there, it reminded me of Leo, I was
wondering if you'can tell me what Leo was like? I've heard that he
was a jokester, and certainly was a comic fellow.

JH: I'11 tell you, he pulled a good one omne a cousin of mine. This cousin,
that was a long time ago, he was here in Spokane, and well, he had a
little job of some kind. He was single and young, he didn't like that
job he had. And I happened to be in town. "Well,"” I said, "1if you
want to come back with me to Bovill, I said, "I'm pretty sure you can
go to work in the pole yard." "All right, I'11l give it a tey." 8o
he did. And his job was to count the poles on each car. After a car
was loaded;see, then you count the poles to see how many was on there.
They know how many is supposed to be on there, you see, and of course
the loaders and the checker, whoever it is, tries to get exactly that
number of poles on, but then they always have one to eount 'em after-
wards. Well the best way to do it is to go to the end where the butts
are, you see, and then count those butts. You can use a little chalk

\7mark if you want to know that you've counted that. And then you go to
the other end. Well, sometimes you see the poles go that way so there'd
be butts on each end, and the small part would be to the middle. And
this cousin, he was counting, that was part of his work that day. He
was counting and he'd get a different number on the other end -one
more log. And he done it and he done it so-many times that it was

driving him crazy. Like each time he'd count on one end and maybe

199 anr 2 hndred nolee and the other end was a hundred one. Well
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SAM:

JH:

that doggone Leo, there was a little open spaée there where there was
nothing, and a;ound the cedar yard there's lots of cutoff pieces, you
know. He took one of those little short pieces that wasn't two feet
long and he shoved it in that space, (chuckles) That made it, yeah.
He'd do things like that. For quite a few years he was in charge of
creosoting. That was part of his work there.
What is the story you told me about getting his eggs stolen?
Oh yeah. He had a barn, he had cows and chickens. And he knew that
he was losing some eggs. Well he had a neighbor, he was a good enough
fella but he was different, Buck Chambers. And he figured that it was
probably Buck that was stealing his eggs, but he hadn't seen him do it.
So this time, it was early in the morning, I guess it was, I think he
seen Buck go into the barn. And there was nothing to say, you know, or
reprimand him or anything for being in there, that was all right. But
when Leo went in, "How are ya, Buck!" Buck stuttered, you know, and
Leo kind of sized him up, and then he walked over to him, and(slappiné
hands on his trousers) on the pockets, and he heard eggs breaking, and
come down on top of ﬁis head just playful, you know, down on top of his
head. Here Buck had eggs under the hat, the hat pulled down and he had
eggs up there, and Leo broke the whole works. Oh his pockets, and the
eggs started coming down Buck's face. Well, the jig was up then, of
course. He didn't do anything about it; he didn't want to do anything
about it. He just wanted to stop Buck from stealing his eggs! (Laughs)
6h I don't know, storie; used to come up around Bovill there, and
somebody would say, "Where did all these new stories come from?" So I
heard somebody say, "Don't you know? Leo Guilfoy makes them up!"
(Chuckles) I don't know whether he did or not. Leo to me didn't

&eem ever worried about anything. Maybe that's why he lived so long.
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If he done any worrying he kept it to himseif. It couldn't have been
just an easy life, you know, after his wife couldn't be home to take

care of the family. There he had those three kids, he had to earn a
livelihood as well as supervise the kids until they could do for them-
selves. It was a big job, it was a bigger job than most men would do,

I think. He done a real good job. Reai good.
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